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I. IDENTIFICATION OF PETITIONER AND BASIS FOR STANDING 

 This Petition Prairie Island Indian Community hereby petitions for leave to intervene in 

this proceeding to oppose the March 3, 2010 motion by the Department of Energy (DOE) to 

dismiss with prejudice its application for a construction authorization to proceed with a deep 

geologic repository for high-level radioactive waste (HLW) and spent nuclear fuel (SNF) at 

Yucca Mountain, Nevada. 

 This Petition should be granted because it meets the Atomic Safety and Licensing Board's 

(ASLB or Board) intervention requirements.  The Petitioner has a direct and compelling interest 

in opposing DOE's motion.  The Petitioner is a federally recognized Indian tribe, whose 

community is adjacent to an Independent Spent Fuel Storage Installation where spent nuclear 

fuel is presently stored.  These SNF sites were originally intended to be temporary storage sites, 

pending completion of a repository to timely receive and dispose of said waste as provided by 

the Nuclear Waste Policy Act of 1982 (NWPA), 42 U.S.C. § 10101, et seq, and the Standard 

Contract entered into by nuclear utilities and the U.S. Department of Energy, Standard Contract 

for Disposal of Spent Nuclear Fuel and/or High-Level Radioactive Waste, 10 C.F.R. § 961.11 et 

seq. 

 The Petitioner also represents energy users in their community, which are among the 

nation’s ratepayers that have paid billions of dollars in fees under the standard contract for the 

purpose of ensuring SNF on a prompt basis.  As the Court held in Indiana Michigan Power Co v 

DOE, 88 F3d 1272, 1277, (1996), there exists a reciprocal obligation between the payment of 

SNF fees under the Standard Contract, and DOE's performance of its SNF disposal duties: 
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"… we hold that section 302(a)(5)(B) creates an obligation in 
DOE, reciprocal to the utilities' obligation to pay, to start disposing 
of the SNF no later than January 31, 1998." 

 DOE's anticipated motion should not be heard without argument from the Petitioner, 

which is uniquely situated among the parties to this proceeding. 

A. Standing as a Matter of Right [10 C.F.R. § 2.309(d)] 

1. Intervenor Information [10 C.F.R. § 2.309(d)(1)(i)] 

a. PIIC Background and Standing  
 

The Prairie Island Indian Community (“PIIC”) is a Federally recognized Indian Tribe 

organized under the Indian Reorganization Act, 25 U.S.C. § 476, and is governed under the 

terms of a Constitution and Bylaws adopted by tribal members on May 23, 1936, and approved 

by the Secretary of the Interior on June 20, 1936, as amended (“Constitution and Bylaws”).  

Article IV, Section 1 of the Constitution provides that the Community Council (sometimes 

referred to as the Tribal Council) shall be the governing body for the PIIC with the authority to 

act or speak on behalf of the PIIC.  On March 10, 2010, the Tribal Council authorized its General 

Counsel to file this joint petition on behalf of the PIIC. 

All five members of the Tribal Council reside within approximately five (5) miles of the 

Prairie Island Nuclear Generating Plant Independent Spent Fuel Storage Installation (“PINGP 

ISFSI”).  The Prairie Island Indian Reservation is located immediately adjacent to the PINGP 

property, with the nearest Community residences approximately 600 yards from the PINGP 

ISFSI.  The Prairie Island Reservation is approximately 40 miles southeast of the Twin Cities of 

Minneapolis - St. Paul and near the cities of Red Wing and Hastings, Minnesota.  Approximately 

250 Community Members reside on or near the Reservation in the vicinity of the PINGP ISFSI.  

The PIIC also owns and operates Treasure Island Resort & Casino, the largest employer in 
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Goodhue County, which employs approximately 1,500 people.  The Resort and Casino includes 

a 480-room hotel and convention center, a 95-space RV park, and a 137-slip marina.  On any 

given day during the year, there may be more than 8,000 visitors to the reservation. 

The PIIC is concerned that the long-term storage of spent nuclear fuel at the PINGP 

ISFSI may result in a detrimental effect to the health and safety of PIIC members and pose a risk 

to visitors to the reservation and may have a detrimental effect on the environment in which the 

PIIC is situated.   

b. Petitioner PIIC Has Standing to Request an Adjudicatory Hearing 
and to Intervene. 

 
The PIIC is located immediately adjacent to the PINGP and the PINGP ISFSI.  Although 

the PIIC can meet the traditional criteria in 10 C.F.R. Section 2.309(d)(1)(ii)-(iv) for determining 

standing, the PIIC also has standing based on the proximity presumption.  The “proximity 

presumption,” whereby a petitioner is presumed to have standing to intervene without the need to 

specifically plead injury, causation, and redress ability, applies if the petitioner lives within fifty 

miles of the nuclear reactor.  The Community’s proximity immediately adjacent to the PINGP 

should be determinative of the Community’s standing to participate in this proceeding.  See, e.g., 

Northern States Power Co. (Prairie Island Nuclear Generating Plant, Units 1 and 2), LBP-08-26, 

68 N.R.C. 905 (2008) (finding that the PIIC had met the requirements of Section 2.309(d) and 

had standing to intervene in license renewal application). 

The name of the party petitioner and its address (and related contact information) is as 

follows: 

Name of Party: Prairie Island Indian Community 

Address: Philip R. Mahowald, General Counsel 
Prairie Island Indian Community Legal Department 
5636 Sturgeon Lake Road 
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Welch, MN  55089 
 

Phone: (651) 267-4006 

E-mail: pmahowald@piic.org 

Address: Don L. Keskey 
Public Law Resource Center PLLC 
505 N. Capitol Avenue 
Lansing, MI  48933 
 

Phone: (517) 999-7572 

E-mail: donkeskey@publiclawresourcecenter.com 

2. The Nature of Petitioner’s Right Under the Act to be Made 
a Party to the Proceeding [10 C.F.R. § 2.309(d)(1)(ii)] 

 The Atomic Energy Act (AEA) provides that the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) 

must provide a hearing to any host community whose interest may be affected by a proceeding 

for the granting of a license or construction permit and must admit any such entity as a party to 

the proceeding.  42 U.S.C. 2239(a)(1)(A).  A Petitioner may have standing to participate even if 

the facility at issue is not located within that state or locality.  10 C.F.R. § 2.309(d)(2).   

 The Petitioner has interests that may be affected by this proceeding.  The Petitioner thus 

has a statutory right to be made parties to this proceeding. 

3. The Nature and Extent of the Petitioner’s Interest in the 
Proceeding [10 C.F.R. § 2.309(d)(1)(iii)] 

 Petitioner is a host community to an ISFSI site and to a commercial nuclear plant which 

has generated and stored SNF for decades.  At present, the SNF is stored either within plant 

facilities, or in separate dry cask facilities (ISFSI).   

 Petitioner’s citizen ratepayers comprise energy users, who, with energy users and 

ratepayers throughout the nation, have paid billions of dollars in past and ongoing fees to finance 
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the establishment of one or more repositories to receive and dispose of SNF pursuant to the 

directives and policy decisions made by Congress in the Nuclear Waste Policy Act (NWPA), and 

pursuant to the Standard Contract required by the NWPA.  The amount of said rate payments on 

a national basis is now approximately $ 33 billion (with interest), including on a combined basis, 

payments sent to the Nuclear Waste Fund (NWF), and fee collections included in electric rates 

but still held by utilities relating to SNF generated and sold before April 7, 1983 (see attached 

Affidavit and Attachments of Ronald C. Callen). 

 The NWPA (and Standard Contract) assigned the DOE the mandated duty to develop a 

repository for SNF, pursuant to a timely designated schedule.  Indiana Michigan, supra, p 1277.  

Tennessee v Herrington, 806 F.2d 642, 648 (1986).  The ISFSI site located in Petitioner’s 

community, as with ISFSIs around the nation, have not been studied or approved as long-term or 

permanent SNF storage or disposal sites.  The nation needs one or more SNF repositories for 

both commercial and military waste, irrespective of any other alternatives that may arise in 

future decades, or which may be studied by the recently appointed Blue Ribbon Committee.  

DOE's sudden, unexpected, and major change of direction, as reflected in its March 3, 2010 

Motion to Withdraw, creates major questions and unknowns, including the prospect that SNF 

will become stranded in the respective states in such a fashion as to create significant long-term 

environmental and safety risks, in addition to substantial financial risks and costs. 

 DOE's Motion to Withdraw also constitutes action which is contradictory to its assigned 

duties, and contrary to the purposes and, objectives, of Congress, as established in the NWPA, as 

further reflected in the Standard Contract. 

 Based on the above, the Petitioner has a direct and concrete interest in this proceeding, 

justifying participation for the purpose of opposing DOE's March 3, 2010 Motion to Withdraw. 
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4. The Possible Effect of a Decision or Order by the NRC 
Affecting Petitioner’s Interest [10 C.F.R. § 2.309(d)(1)(iv)] 

 DOE's Motion to Withdraw seeks to withdraw its construction license application with 

prejudice, albeit without providing any rationale or explanation to support such action. 

 DOE's Motion to Withdraw, even if it had sought withdrawal of the license application 

without prejudice, would be contrary to its mandated duties assigned by Congress in the NWPA.  

However, its Motion to Withdraw the license application with prejudice is particularly 

unnecessary and reckless, given both the requirements and obligations established by the NWPA 

and Standard Contract, but also given the long history of steps undertaken thus far since the 

adoption of the NWPA.  This history includes, but is not limited to, the 1987 Amendments to the 

NWPA, the decisions by the Courts in I&M Power and Northern States Power, among others, 

the numerous Court of Claims decisions arising from DOE's breach in the Standard Contract, the 

recommendation by the DOE Secretary in 2002 to proceed with the Yucca Mountain site, as then 

adopted in 2002 by the President, and confirmed by Congress in 2002 (Pub. L. No. 107-200, 116 

Stat. 735).  This history also includes billions of dollars expended by the federal government to 

study the Yucca Mountain site, DOE's effort to formulate the license application filed in 2008, 

and the follow-up process to respond to information inquiries by the NRC Staff up until or 

through 2009.  The sudden and unexplained DOE Motion to Withdraw with prejudice, if granted, 

would result in extreme prejudice to Petitioner’s interests, as it may forever foreclose siting a 

geological repository at Yucca Mountain, in contravention of the above history, including the 

unequivocal objectives, purposes, and policies established by Congress over a period of decades. 

 The Petitioner has described earlier its interests in this proceeding as a host community of 

SNF sites, and as representatives of their citizens having long-term enduring interests in the 

protection of public safety, the environment and natural resources, and to protect their long-term 
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financial interests.  DOE's motion directly affects the Petitioner’s interests to act on behalf of its 

citizens.  Massachusetts v Environmental Protection Agency, 549 US 497, 518-19 (2007).  The 

Petitioner asserts that the effects resulting from DOE's proposed motion, if granted, provides 

Petitioner all of the elements of judicial standing, including "concrete and particularized 

interests” as set forth by the U.S. Supreme Court (e.g. Lujan v Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 

555, 560-561 (1992).  The Petitioner also asserts that these effects fall within the "zone of 

interests" to be protected by the NWPA, 42 U.S.C. § 10101, et seq, by the National 

Environmental Policy Act (NEPA), 42 U.S.C. § 4321; and the Atomic Energy Act, 42 U.S.C. § 

42 U.S.C. 2011, et seq. 

B. Discretionary Intervention [10 C.F.R. § 2.309(e)] 

 In the event that the Petitioner is determined to lack standing to intervene as a matter of 

right under 10 C.F.R. § 2.309(d), the Petitioner alternatively seeks to intervene as a matter of 

discretion on the following grounds: 

1. The Petitioner’s Participation will Assist in Developing a 
Sound Record [10 C.F.R. § 2.309(e)(1)(i)] 

 By granting the intervention of the Petitioner, the Board will ensure that it has an 

adequate record to render a fully informed decision on DOE's Motion to Withdraw.  This is 

discussed further in Section I.C.8, infra. 

2. The Nature and Extent of Petitioner's Interests in the 
Proceeding [10 C.F.R. § 2.309(e)(1)(ii)] 

 The Petitioner incorporates by reference the discussion included in Section I.A.3, supra. 
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3. The Possible Effect of Any Decision or Order That may be 
Issued in the Proceeding on Petitioner’s Interests [10 
C.F.R. § 2.309(e)(1)(iii)] 

 The Petitioner incorporates by reference the discussion included in Section I.A.4, supra. 

C. Non-Timely Intervention [10 C.F.R. § 2309(c)] 

 The NRC's rules permit late-filed Petitions to Intervene, but set forth eight factors upon 

which such motions should be considered.  10 C.F.R. § 2309(c)(1); Dominion Nuclear 

Connecticut, Inc. (Millstone Nuclear Power Station, Units 2 & 3), CLI-05-24, 62 NRC 551 

(2005).  The Petitioner meets all of these factors: 

1. Good Cause [10 C.F.R. § 2309(c)(1)(i)] 

 The Petitioner asserts that good cause exists for the filing of this late intervention.  When 

DOE's construction license application was filed and then noticed for hearing on October 22, 

2008 (73 Fed Reg 63,029, October 22, 2008), the Petitioner was supportive of DOE's action in 

completing and filing the license application, and believed that the license application was 

appropriate for filing, and would be consistently supported by DOE until a decision on the merits 

of the application by the NRC.  Subsequent to the filing of the license application, the DOE until 

very recently was reportedly supporting the application and was responding to information 

inquiries requested by the NRC Staff.  In a sudden and wholly unexpected reversal of position, 

and despite decades-long mandates and DOE policy, the DOE filed on February 1, 2010, a 

Motion for Stay of this proceeding stating its intention to file a Motion to Withdraw the license 

application.  On March 3, 2010, the DOE filed its Motion to Withdraw, which for the first time 

requested this relief, albeit without any clear explanation or rationale.  The action by the DOE to 

withdraw its own application with no justification could clearly not be reasonably foreseen by 
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the petitioner.  Had the petitioner known that the applicant might reverse course for no apparent 

reason, Petitioner would have petitioned to intervene up front. 

 The filing of DOE's March 3, 2010 Motion to Withdraw occurred only twelve (12) days 

ago.  The filing of this motion now confirms that the interests of the Petitioner are no longer 

aligned with DOE's position or actions, due to DOE's sudden and unexpected reversal of its own 

past actions in preparing and supporting the license application.  The motion filing also 

confirmed DOE's inexplicable effort to withdraw the license application with prejudice.  These 

very recent events have now created the necessity and urgency for the Petitioner to file this 

petition.  These unique and unforeseen, indeed extraordinary, circumstances provide good cause 

for this late intervention to be granted.  The Petitioner asserts that these new unforeseen 

regulatory developments, and the recent availability of the new information established by 

DOE's March 3, 2010 motion, constitute good cause for this late intervention to be granted.  The 

Petitioner asserts that these new unforeseen regulatory developments, and the recent availability 

of the new information established by DOE's March 3, 2010 Motion, constitute good cause for 

the late intervention.1.   

The Petitioner has also sought to intervene as soon as possible, and within the short 10-

day time frame for responding to DOE's March 3 Motion, a timeframe consistent with other 

NRC precedent wherein it was found that the test for late intervention was met.  See Private Fuel 

Storage, L.L.C. (Independent Spent Fuel Storage Installation), LBP-99-3, 49 NRC 40 (1999) 

(finding that a petition for leave to intervene filed 45 days after petitioner knew of a relevant 

                                                 
1 Duke Power Co (Amendment to Materials License SNM-1773 - Transportation of Spent Fuel 
from Oconee Nuclear Station for Storage at McGuire Nuclear Station), ALAB-528, 9 NRC 146, 
148-49 (1979); Texas Utilities Electric Co (Comanche Peak Steam Electric Station Units 1 & 2), 
CLI-92-12, 36 NRC 62, 69-73 (1992); Consumers Power Co (Midland Plant, Units 1 & 2), LBP-
82-63, 16 NRC 571, 577 (1982). 
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license amendment met the NRC test).  The Petitioner thus asserts that they have demonstrated 

good cause for a late-filed petition to intervene. 

2. The Nature and Extent of the Petitioner’s Rights Under the Act to 
be Made Parties to the Proceeding [10 C.F.R. § 2.309(c)(1)(ii)] 

 The Petitioner incorporates by reference the discussion in Section I.A.2, supra. 

3. The Nature and Extent of the Petitioner’s Interest in the 
Proceeding [10 C.F.R. § 2.309(c)(1)(iii)] 

 The Petitioner incorporates by reference the discussion in Section I.A.3, supra. 

4. The Possible Effect of a Decision or Order by the NRC Affecting 
the Petitioner’s Interest [10 C.F.R. § 2.309(c)(1)(iv)] 

 The Petitioner incorporates by reference the discussion in Section I.A.4, supra. 

5. The Availability of Other Means Whereby the Petitioner’s 
Interests will be protected [10 C.F.R. § 2309(c)(1)(v)] 

 The Petitioner’s interests may, or may not, be protected by considering legal action in 

other forums, such as by the filing of a Petition for Review in the United States Court of Appeals 

under Section 119 of the NWPA; 42 U.S.C. § 10139(a)(1)(B), to challenge actions or non-

actions of the DOE Secretary, the Administration, and the President.  However, while that Court 

may be able to provide some relief, it is not clear at all that the court can provide timely relief on 

the matter which is directly before this Board and Agency under its jurisdiction under the Atomic 

Energy Act.   

 While the Petitioner may pursue other avenues of relief, the immediate issue is the DOE's 

motion before this Board to withdraw its license application with prejudice, and to terminate the 

Yucca Mountain project.  Any action by this agency to grant DOE's motion will cause immediate 

harm to the petitioner.  It is in this proceeding, at this time, that DOE seeks lasting relief that is 
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highly inimical to the interests of the Petitioner.  It is therefore in this proceeding, at this time, 

that the Petitioner must seek to intervene to oppose the DOE motion, and to provide this agency 

the opportunity to review and rule upon Petitioner’s positions.  The most direct and adequate 

remedy for the Petitioner is to participate in this proceeding relative to the immediate matter 

presented to the Board.  Other potential future remedies in other forms are speculative at this 

time, and the remedies available may not be adequate to directly deal with the urgent matters at 

stake in this proceeding. 

6. The Extent to Which Petitioner’s Interests will be Represented by 
Existing Parties [10 C.F.R. § 2309(c)(1)(vi)] 

 The Petitioner's interests cannot be represented by any existing parties to this proceeding.  

The Petitioner is a federally recognized Indian Tribe that is a host site for nuclear waste, faced 

with unique SNF or HLW concerns and interests.  As such, the proposed intervenor has a status 

recognized as a basis for participation by right under the NRC rules.   

 The existing parties include the Nuclear Energy Institute (NEI).  NEI members include 

the nuclear utilities, but also include various companies and individuals involved in the nuclear 

field.  Notably, NEI does not and cannot represent the Petitioners.  The other existing parties 

(such as Nevada or California) have opposed DOE's license application, contrary to the interests 

of the Petitioner here.  None of the other parties have interests similar to those of the Petitioner. 

 Certain other parties recently filing intervention petitions, such as the States of South 

Carolina and Washington, have some unique interests or circumstances, although these states 

also have commercial SNF in storage.  However, that does not diminish the unique interests and 

circumstances of Petitioner relating to SNF stored in its community.  Moreover, the Petitioner’s 
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petition herein asserts additional contentions, and can provide useful complementary information 

and arguments relevant to contentions made by Washington and South Carolina. 

7. The Extent to Which Petitioner’s Participation will Broaden the 
Issues or Delay the Proceeding [10 C.F.R. § 2.309(c)(1)(vii)] 

 DOE's March 3, 2010 motion seeks to withdraw its license applications with prejudice.  

DOE has thus raised the issue as to whether this action is lawful, and whether DOE has authority 

to request such a withdrawal and whether this Board has authority to grant such a motion.  While 

the Petitioner seeks to oppose DOE's motion, the Petitioner’s participation will not broaden the 

issues herein.   

 The Petitioner’s intervention also will not delay the proceeding.  It is the action of DOE 

that is delaying discovery and the hearing process in this case.  Moreover, if DOE's motion is 

granted, the hearing would be over.  DOE has cited no imminent need to terminate the hearing 

quickly.  Should DOE make some argument about the desirability of ending the hearing quickly 

to save money, such a claim would be ridiculous on its face, because any money spent to ensure 

that all parties' interests are represented pales in comparison to the $10 billion and 30 years that 

DOE is wasting by terminating the application in the manner that they propose. 

 The Petitioner will also comply with all deadlines set by the Board.  Moreover, this 

intervention is filed well before any hearing on the merits, and is filed in a timeframe consistent 

with other cases in which the Board has granted late intervention.  See, e.g., Private Fuel 

Storage, LLC (Independent Spent Fuel Storage Installation), LBP-99-3, 49 NRC 40 (1999) (late 

intervention by new party unlikely to cause delay where the proceeding was still in the informal 

discovery stage). 
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8. The Extent to Which The Petitioner’s Participation May 
Reasonably be Expected to Assist in Developing a Sound Record 
[10 C.F.R. § 2.309(c)(1)(viii)] 

 The Petitioner will oppose DOE's March 3, 2010 motion on legal grounds, including a 

challenge to the authority of DOE to seek, or for this Board to approve, the relief requested by 

DOE in its motion.   

 The participation by the Petitioner will assist the Board in developing a sound record, 

including the provision of helpful briefing arguments concerning DOE's motion and the manner 

in which the Board should rule on the motion.  Granting the petition will assist in developing a 

sound record by providing for direct representation of the interests and concerns of affected 

communities such as represented by Petitioner that are hosts to SNF storage facilities, and of 

their citizen ratepayers who are affected by DOE's proposed arbitrary and wasteful action. 

II.  CONTENTIONS 

 In accordance with the Pre-License Application Presiding Officer Board's June 20, 2008 

Memorandum and Order (LBP-08-10), the Petitioner submits the following contentions. 

I. PIIC2 - MISC-01 - The DOE Secretary's Action in Filing The 
Motion to Withdraw is Unlawful Under the NWPA and the 
Standard Contract. 

1. Specific Statement of the Issue of Law or Fact to be Raised or 
Controverted. 

 The DOE Secretary's action in filing the March 3, 2010 Motion to Withdraw the license 

application is unlawful, as being unauthorized and inconsistent with the NWPA and the Standard 

Contract. 

                                                 
2 This refers to the Petitioner Prairie Island Indian Community. 
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2. Brief Explanation of the Basis of this Contention. 

 The DOE Secretary's action in requesting the relief sought in the March 3, 2010 Motion 

to Withdraw is unlawful because it is contrary to the Secretary's mandated duties under the 

NWPA and Standard Contract. 

 The Secretary's action is contrary to the purposes and objectives of Congress as stated in 

Section 111 of the NWPA, 42 U.S.C. § 10131.  The Secretary's action ignores the mandated 

steps to establish a repository as set forth in the original 1982 NWPA, as revisited in the 1987 

Amendments.  The Secretary's action obstructs, rather than upholds, DOE's duties under its 

Standard Contract, a result that may incur additional monetary damages to the detriment of the 

nation's taxpayers.  The Secretary wholly ignores the long-term history and context that defines 

his duties, as made clear by the NWPA, the Standard Contract, the DOE Secretary's 

recommendation to select Yucca Mountain in 2002, the President's adoption of this 

recommendation, and Congress' ratification in 2002 of this selection (approval of Yucca 

Mountain site, Pub L No. 107-200, 116 Stat 735).  The Secretary ignores the declaratory ruling 

of the Courts in I&M Power, and the partial mandamus granted by the Court in Northern States 

Power, and also the many damage suit award decisions rendered in recent years by the U.S. 

Court of Claims. 

 The NWPA, as augmented by this history and context, mandates the licensing procedure 

that both the DOE and the NRC must uphold.  Under Section 114(b) of the NWPA, Congress has 

mandated that the Secretary "shall submit to the Commission an application for a construction 

authorization for a repository at [Yucca Mountain]. . . ."  42 U.S.C. § 10134(b) (emphasis 

added).  Section 114(d) further provides that "[t]he Commission shall consider an application for 

a construction authorization for all or part of a repository in accordance with the laws applicable 
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to such applications" and "shall issue a final decision approving or disapproving the issuance of 

a construction authorization" within a prescribed timeframe.  42 U.S.C. § 10134(d) (emphasis 

added). 

 Contrary to the above, DOE's March 3, 2010 motion inexplicably proclaims that the 

Secretary has discretion to announce a withdrawal of the filed license application, and to sua 

sponte terminate the decades-long Yucca Mountain program, for which billions of dollars have 

been spent.  The Secretary presumes this authority and discretion without pointing to any 

applicable statutory and judicial authority, and without any semblance of a process or procedure 

to formulate a basis for this change in policy or interpretation, or to support same with rational 

reasoning or facts, or to submit same to a formal notice proceeding to provide interested parties 

an opportunity to comment on the proposed action.3  Inexplicably, the Secretary's March 3 

motion provides no explanation and no reason to justify the action or the relief requested. 

 DOE's motion (p 7-8) rehashes an argument rejected by the Courts -- that the new DOE 

Secretary's "interpretation of the NWPA would be entitled to deference," citing the lead case of 

Chevron USA Inc v Natural Revenue Defense Counsel, Inc, 462 US 837 (1984).  The DOE's 

motion (p 8) suggests that the DOE's motion, filed by counsel, without any process or rationale, 

somehow fills "this statutory 'gap'."  The DOE Secretary claims he therefore has legal authority 

and discretion to withdraw the license application (and with prejudice) due to a "gap" in statutory 

policy that may be filled in by the agency, citing Chevron.  However, this argument was soundly 

rejected by the Court in Indiana Michigan when the DOE raised the same Chevron argument in 

                                                 
3 In contrast, the DOE Secretary utilized a formal process prior to issuing the Final Interpretation 
of Nuclear Waste Acceptance Issues, 60 Fed. Reg. 21,793 (1995), absolving DOE of any duty to 
dispose of SNF until it had access to a federal repository.  DOE's final Interpretation was 
reversed by the Court in Indiana Michigan. 
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trying to defend its failure to commence disposal of SNF by January 31, 1998.  The Court in 

Indiana Michigan, stated: 

In reviewing an agency's construction of a statute entrusted to its administration, 
we follow the two-step statutory analysis established in Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. 
Natural Resources Defense Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837, 842-43, 81 L.Ed. 2d 694, 
104 S.Ct. 2778 (1984). 

First, we ask whether Congress has spoken unambiguously to the question at 
hand.  If it has, then our duty is clear:  "We must follow that language and give it 
effect."  Wisconsin Elec. Power Co. v. DOE, 250 U.S. App. D.C. 128, 778 F.2d 1, 
4 (D.C. Cir. 1985).  If not, we consider the agency's action under the second step 
of Chevron, deferring to the agency's interpretation if it is "reasonable and 
consistent with the statute's purpose."  (cites omitted). 

 

The Court wholly rejected DOE's argument that the language of Section 302(a)(5)(B) of the 

NWPA, 42 USC10222 (a)(5)(B), ("in return for the payment of fees. . . [DOE], beginning not 

later than January 31, 1998, will dispose of the [SNF]….") did not require DOE to "begin to 

dispose of SNF by January 31, 1998" or "that this obligation is further conditioned on the 

availability of a repository or other facility authorized, constructed, and licensed in accordance 

with the NWPA."  The Court (p 1276-1277) rejected DOE's Chevron assertion, stating: 

The Department's treatment of this statute is not an interpretation but a rewrite.  It 
not only blue-pencils out the phrase "not later than January 31, 1998," but 
destroys the quid pro quo created by Congress.  It does not survive the first step 
of the Chevron analysis.  467 U.S. at 842-43. 

*  *  * 

Rather, these prerequisites evince a strong congressional intent that DOE's various 
obligations be performed in a timely manner.  See, e.g., Tennessee v. Herrington, 
806 F.2d 642, 648 (6th Cir. 1986) ("The overall structure of the Act does reveal a 
consistent concern for timely implementation of the disposal provisions."), cert 
denied, 480 U.S. 946, 94 L. Ed. 2d 790, 107 S. Ct. 1604 (1987). 

 

The Court's holding reemphasized that DOE's Chevron assertion simply does not comply with 

the NWPA: 
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 In conclusion, we hold that the petitioners' reading of the statute comports 
with the plain language of the measure.  In contrast, the agency's interpretation 
renders the phrase "not later than January 31, 1998" superfluous.  Thus, we hold 
that section 392(1)(5)(B) creates an obligation in DOE, reciprocal to the utilities' 
obligation to pay, to start disposing of the SNF no later than January 31, 1998.  
The decision of the Secretary is vacated, and the case is remanded for further 
proceedings consistent with this opinion. 

 

A basic overriding question exists -- since the Court in Indiana Michigan rejected DOE's 

Chevron claim or defense in ruling against its anticipatory breach of not meeting the NWPA's 

January 31, 1998 deadline for disposing of SNF, how could such a Chevron defense exist in the 

more extreme circumstances here -- DOE's outright claim that it may simply withdraw its license 

application with prejudice and permanently terminate the disposal facility? 

 In Northern States Power Co, et al v DOE, 128 F.3d 754 (1997), the Court granted a 

partial mandamus to enforce its holding in Indiana Michigan.  The Court (p 756) noted 

Congress' intent in the NWPA "whereby the federal government would have the responsibility to 

provide for the permanent disposal of the SNF."  The Court noted the 1998 deadline for 

commencement of SNF disposal under both the NWPA and the Standard Contract: 

In the language of the statute, the "contracts entered into under this section shall 
provide that. . . in return  for the payment of fees established by this section, the 
Secretary, beginning not later than January 31, 1998, will dispose of the high-
level radioactive waste or spent nuclear fuel involved as provided in this 
subchapter."  42 U.S.C. § 10222(a)(5)(B).   

 

The Court in Northern States Power (pp 756-757) reiterated its reversal of DOE's Final 

Interpretation and DOE's Chevron analysis in Indiana Michigan: 

Reviewing DOE's construction of the NWPA under the two-step analysis of 
Chevron U.S.A. Inc. v. Natural Resources Defense Council, 467 U.S. 837, 81 L. 
Ed. 2d 694, 104 S. Ct. 2778 (1984), we concluded that DOE's interpretation was 
contrary to the unambiguously expressed intent of Congress.  We reached this 
conclusion after analyzing the plain language of the statute, which mandates that 
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DOE assume a contractual obligation to start disposing of the SNF by January 31, 
1998.  We took special care to emphasize the reciprocal nature of the obligations.  
DOE's duty to dispose of the SNF in a timely manner is "in return for" the 
payment of fees into the Nuclear Waste Fund.  42 U.S.C. § 10222(a)(5)(B).  We 
held that DOE's obligation to meet the 1998 deadline is "without qualification or 
condition," and identified DOE's duty to "perform its part of the contractual 
bargain."  88 F.3d at 1273.  We therefore remanded the matter to DOE for 
"further proceedings consistent with" our opinion.  Id. at 1277.  DOE neither 
sought rehearing of that decision nor petitioned the Supreme Court for further 
review. 

 

 The Court in Northern States held that the petitioners qualified for mandamus relief 

against the DOE.  Citing its holding in Indiana Michigan, the Court stated (p 758): 

We held that DOE's interpretation was inconsistent with the text of the NWPA, 
which clearly demonstrates a congressional intent that the Department assume a 
contractual obligation to perform by the 1998 deadline, "without qualification or 
condition."  88 F.3d at 1276.  DOE's duty to take the materials by the 1998 
deadline is also an integral part of the Standard Contract, which provides that the 
Department "shall begin" disposing of the SNF by January 31, 1998.  10 C.F.R. § 
961.11, Art. II. 

 

The Court in Northern States Power (p 760) again rejected DOE's interpretation of both the 

NWPA and Standard Contract: 

We held in Indiana Michigan that the NWPA imposes an unconditional duty on 
DOE to take the materials by 1998.  Congress, in other words, directed DOE to 
assume an unqualified obligation to take the materials by the statutory deadline.  
Under the Department's interpretation of the governing contractual provisions, 
however, the government can always absolve itself from bearing the costs of its 
delay if the delay is caused by the government's own acts.  This cannot be a valid 
interpretation, as it would allow the Executive Branch to void an unequivocal 
obligation imposed by Congress.  DOE has no authority to adopt a contract that 
violates the directives of Congress, just as it cannot implement interpretations of 
the contract that contravene this court's prior ruling.  We hold that this provision 
in the Standard Contract, insofar as it is applied to DOE's failure to perform by 
1998, is inconsistent with DOE's statutory obligation to assume an unconditional 
duty. 
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 The clear and unequivocal holdings of the court in Indiana Michigan and Northern States 

Power arose because of DOE's failure to meet its unconditional obligation to begin disposal of 

SNF by 1998.  Given these holdings, how can DOE's decision and action in this proceeding to 

permanently withdraw its license application and to terminate the repository for SNF disposal 

comport with the plain language and intent of Congress in the NWPA, the Standard Contract, or 

the judicial holdings in Indiana Michigan and Northern States Power? 

 The Petitioner asserts that the Secretary's actions as reflected in DOE's March 3, 2010 

motion is unlawful under the NWPA and Standard Contract, and constitutes an unauthorized 

action concerning a matter where the Secretary has no discretion.  The discretion of the DOE 

Secretary was exercised in 2002 as noted above, and by the previous Secretary in completing and 

filing the license application.  The duty of the present Secretary is to now conscientiously carry 

out the processing of the license application in the 3-4 year time frame provided by the NWPA. 

3. Demonstration That the Issue Raised is Within the Scope of this 
Proceeding. 

 DOE has filed its March 3, 2010 Motion to Withdraw the license application with 

prejudice.  The DOE Secretary's action has raised this legal issue.  The Petitioner’s opposition to 

the Secretary's action thus inextricably falls within the scope of this proceeding. 

4. Demonstration That the Issue Raised is Material to the Findings 
of the NRC Must Make to Support the Action That is Involved in 
the Proceeding 

 DOE's filed motion requires a ruling from this Board.  The Petitioner’s contention on this 

issue relates directly to DOE's motion, and is material to any ruling on the motion. 
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5. Concise Statement of Supporting Facts, Expert Opinions, and 
References. 

 This issue raised in this contention are primarily legal in nature; not factual matters.  To 

the degree factual matters are involved, the Petitioner relies on the existing record and the 

attached affidavit of Ronald C. Callen. 

6. Information Showing That a Genuine Dispute Exists on a 
Material Issue of Law or Fact 

 A material issue of law exists because DOE's motion claims, without explanation, that the 

Secretary has the lawful authority and discretion to withdraw its construction license application 

(with prejudice) as opposed to Petitioner’s contention that such action is not lawful, and not 

within the authority or discretion of the Secretary. 

II. PIIC - MISC - 002 - The NRC (In Addition to the Doe) Does 
Not Have the Discretion to Terminate the License Proceeding, 
or to Terminate the Licensing Process With Prejudice. 

1. Statement of the Issue of Law or Fact to be Raised or 
Controverted 

 Petitioner asserts that the NRC (in addition to the Doe) does not have the lawful authority 

or discretion to terminate this licensing proceeding without a substantive decision on the merits, 

and certainly lack such authority or discretion to terminate this licensing process at this stage, in 

the manner proposed, with prejudice, so as to terminate the entire Yucca Mountain project. 

2. Brief Explanation of the Basis of This Contention 

 Petitioner asserts that (besides the Doe) the NRC also does not possess the lawful 

authority and discretion to terminate this proceeding in the manner proposed, and with prejudice. 

 Congress set forth its findings and purposes, and goals, and objectives, in Section 111 (a) 

and (b) of the NWPA, 42 U.S.C. § 10131 (a) and (b), including the determination of the national 



 - 22 -

policy that a deep geological repository is necessary and appropriate to dispose of high level 

radioactive waste and spent nuclear fuel.  This decision by Congress was buttressed by the 1987 

amendments, the 2002 recommendations of Yucca Mountain as a repository site selection by the 

then DOE Secretary, by President Bush's adoption of this recommendation, and by Congress' 

2002 determination to designate Yucca Mountain as the nation's first repository site (Pub. L. No. 

107-200, 116 Stat. 735). 

 The Yucca Mountain site selection has thus already been made by the DOE, the 

President, and Congress, pursuant to the process established by the NWPA [Sections 112, 113, 

and 114, 42 U.S.C. § 10132, 10133, 42 U.S.C. 10134; Nuclear Energy Institute v Environmental 

Protection Agency, 373 F3d 1251, 1302 (D.C. Cir, 2004).  Under NWPA's mandated process, 

DOE was then to file its license application (Section 114(b), 42 U.S.C. § 10134(b)), which DOE 

accomplished in 2008.  Under NWPA Section 114(d), 42 U.S.C. § 10134(d), the NRC then has a 

specific timeline for processing and ruling upon the license application on the merits.  As the 

Court reiterated in Indiana Michigan and Northern States Power, Congress intended a definite 

and timely process.  DOE's motion suggesting that, while the NWPA requires the filing of the 

license application, but not the furtherance thereof by the DOE and NRC to a decision on the 

merits, constitutes an absurd interpretation of the plain language of the NWPA, the Standard 

Contract, and violates the intent and purposes of Congress as stated in the NWPA.  DOE's 

suggestion that this decades-long process, costing billions of dollars, and relied on so much by 

the nation's citizens, states, localities, and the industry, was only for the purpose of 

accomplishing a filing of the license application, but nothing more, is exasperatingly illogical 

and situational.  The bottom line is that the present DOE Secretary has no lawful authority or 

discretion to retroactively reverse all of the existing law and past milestones achieved thus far, 
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and to sua sponte impose a unilateral decision, without any rationale or explanation, to withdraw 

and foreclose the required license processing, and the Yucca Mountain project.  Moreover, the 

NRC has the lawful duty to process the license application. 

3. Demonstration That the Issue Raised is Within the Scope of This 
Proceeding 

 The DOE's March 3, 2010 motion seeks to withdraw its license application with 

prejudice, and claims with scant support that the DOE Secretary simply has said discretion 

because of a "new-found," unexplained "gap" in the applicable federal statutes.  Since DOE's 

motion raises this issue, Petitioner's Opposition to DOE's Motion on this issue is within the scope 

of the proceeding.  Similarly, Doe’s motion raises the issue of the NRC’s authority and 

discretion, to cease and close the licensing proceeding, and to grant Doe’s Motion to Withdraw 

thereby, so as to terminate the Yucca Mountain Project. 

4. Demonstration That the Issue Raised is Material to the Findings 
The NRC Must Make to Support the Action That is Involved in 
the Proceeding 

 DOE's Motion raises this issue, requiring a ruling on the issue.  Petitioner opposes DOE's 

motion and claims on this issue.  Petitioner’s issues are thus material to any ruling on DOE's 

motion. 

5. Concise Statement of Supporting Facts, Expert Opinions, and 
References 

 This issue involves primarily a legal issue.  However, the relevant facts, expert opinions, 

and references already exist in the record, or in the attached affidavit of Ronald C. Callen. 
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6. Information Showing That a Genuine Dispute Exists on a 
Material Issue of Law or Fact 

 A genuine issue of law or facts exists as demonstrated by DOE's March 3, 2010 Motion 

to Withdraw its license application with prejudice, based upon an erroneous view of its authority 

and discretion.  The DOE also erroneously presumes that the NRC similarly has said authority or 

discretion to grant DOE's motion.  In contrast, the Petitioner directly opposes and challenges 

DOE's Motion and legal claims on this issue. 

III. PIIC - MISC - 003 - DOE's Motion Seeking to Irrevocably 
Terminate the Yucca Mountain Repository Program 
Constitutes a Violation of NEPA 

1. Statement of the Issue of Law or Fact to be Raised or 
Controverted 

 The DOE's Motion to Withdraw the construction license application in this proceeding, 

with prejudice, constitutes DOE's decision to irrevocably terminate the Yucca Mountain 

repository program.  This motion and decision fails to comply with the National Environmental 

Policy Act (NEPA), 42 U.S.C. § 4321. 

2. Brief Explanation of the Basis of this Contention. 

 The Petitioner asserts that the DOE may not lawfully withdraw its license application 

with prejudice and thereby sua sponte terminate the Yucca Mountain repository project.  DOE's 

decision and motion is unlawful because DOE has not first undertaken the prerequisite steps of 

complying with the NEPA. 

 DOE's decision and motion seeking to terminate the Yucca Mountain repository leaves 

the nation bereft of any facility to dispose of high level radioactive waste or spent nuclear fuel on 

any foreseeable basis.  The result is a default option -- to simply leave SNF and other HLW 
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where it is -- at Petitioner’s host community and at scores of sites around the nation that were 

never studied or even intended to be long-term storage sites or disposal sites (attached affidavit 

of Ronald C. Callen).  The Petitioner is unaware of appropriate environmental studies or other 

NEPA analysis undertaken by DOE prior to reaching its decision to terminate the Yucca 

Mountain repository project and to file the motion to withdraw its license application with 

prejudice.  Yet, DOE's decision and motion will have a significant effect upon the environment 

in numerous locations throughout the nation, including Petitioner’s community. 

 DOE's decision is unquestionably a major federal action that has a significant effect on 

environment within the meaning of NEPA, 42 U.S.C. § 4332(C); 40 C.F.R. §§1508.8, 1508.18, 

1508.27; Idaho Sporting Congress v Thomas, 137 F3d 1146, 1149-50 (9th Cir, 1998), overruled 

on other grounds by 537 F3d 1146 (9th Cir, 2008); Greenpeace Action v Franklin, 14 F3d 1324, 

1332 (9th Cir, 1992).  DOE is therefore required to first evaluate its proposed decision under 

NEPA as a prerequisite to implementing the decision.  42 U.S.C. § 4332(C); 40 C.F.R. § 1501.2, 

1501.3, 1501.4, 1502.3, 1506.1, 1507.1; 10 C.F.R. §§ 1021.210(b), 1021.211; California, Exhibit 

rel. Lockyer v U.S. Dept of Agriculture, 575 F3d 999, 1012 (9th Cir, 2009). 

 The Petitioner also asserts that the studies that DOE has undertaken thus far relative to 

Yucca Mountain, and in preparation for a DOE decision and license application of that site 

(including the general "no action" alternative discussed in the 2002 Final Environmental Impact 

Statement for a Geologic Repository for the Disposal of Spent Nuclear Fuel and High-Level 

Radioactive Waste at Yucca Mountain, Nye County, Nevada, (as supplemented), cannot be 

retroactively applied on a post-hoc basis to support DOE's highly unforeseen and situational 

decision made here to now withdraw the subject license application. 
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3. Demonstration That the Issue Raised is Within the Scope of This 
Proceeding 

 DOE's motion to withdraw its license application with prejudice, and to thereby terminate 

this proceeding and the Yucca Mountain project, does not comply with NEPA and therefore 

violates NEPA.  This legal issue is inherently raised by DOE's Motion, and is therefore within 

the scope of this proceeding. 

4. Demonstration That the Issue Raised is Material to the Findings 
The NRC Must Make to Support the Action That is Involved in 
the Proceeding 

 The issue raised by Petitioner is directly relevant and material to the ruling this Board and 

the NRC must make on DOE's motion.  The ruling by the Board and NRC should comply with 

federal law.  The Board and NRC should not approve a motion aimed at implementing a decision 

which is unlawful, either substantially or procedurally. 

5. Concise Statement of Supporting Facts, Expert Opinions, and 
References 

 The issue raised by Petitioner concerning DOE's non-compliance with NEPA is 

primarily, if not wholly, a legal issue.  Alaska Wilderness Recreation & Tourism Ass'n v 

Morrison, 67 F3d 723, 727 (9th Cir, 1995).  However, to the extent facts are necessary, the 

Petitioner relies on the existing facts in this case, and as alleged in the attached Affidavit of 

Ronald C. Callen. 

6. Information Showing That a Genuine Dispute Exists on a 
Material Issue of Law or Fact 

 A genuine dispute exists on a material issue of law or fact because the DOE has filed a 

motion in this proceeding to implement a decision to irrevocably terminate the Yucca Mountain 

project, even though DOE has not met the legal prerequisites to undertake this action.  In 
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contrast, the Petitioner asserts that DOE has not first complied with NEPA and that its decision 

and action is therefore unlawful. 

IV. PIIC-MISC-004 - DOE's Decision and Motion to Withdraw 
the License Application, and its Decision and Motion to 
Withdraw the License application with Prejudice so as to 
terminate the Yucca Mountain Project (and Board or NRC 
Approval of Said Decisions and Motion) is (or would be) 
Arbitrary and Capricious in Violation of the Administrative 
Procedures Act 

1. Statement of the Issue of Law or Fact To Be Raised or 
Controverted 

 Petitioner asserts that DOE's decision and motion (to both withdraw and withdraw with 

prejudice) its license application, and to terminate the Yucca Mountain project (and also Board 

or NRC grant of said motion) is (or would be) arbitrary and capricious in violation of the 

Administrative Procedures Act (APA), 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A). 

2. Brief Explanation of the Basis of this Contention. 

 DOE's decision and motion (and any grant thereof) is (or would be) arbitrary and 

capricious under the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A), for several reasons.  First, such decision and 

action violates the NWPA, the Standard Contracts, NEPA, and thus violates the APA on this 

basis.  Second, DOE's decision and motion represents a sudden and complete 180 degree reversal 

of agency effort that has included decades of work, billions of dollars, and has been the subject 

of massive reliance by states, localities, the military, and the nation's citizens and energy users.  

DOE's reversal is wholly unexplained.  Not even a feigned attempt is made in DOE's motion to 

provide facts, reasons, rationale, or supporting evidence to justify such a decision or action.  

Given the statutory requirements, the goals, purposes, and objectives of Congress, and the 

decades-long odyssey of studies, documentation, filings, and achieved milestones, the DOE 
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should be found to be estopped to even make such a decision, and to file such a motion, in the 

circumstances presented. 

 DOE's decision and motion is a "final agency action" within the meaning of the APA, 5 

U.S.C. § 704.  Yet, DOE did not issue any Notice of Inquiry to set forth rational reasons and 

alternative proposals prior to its decision, or to request comments from interested or affected 

parties, or to then render a decision based upon any process, let alone a deliberative process (in 

contrast to the Final Interpretation process, discussed infra).  Instead, the DOE here has reversed 

course, in violation of law, without any stated rationale or reason, expect for a hollow claim of 

limitless unbridled "discretion."  DOE's decision and motion is thus arbitrary and capricious 

under the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A). 

3. Demonstration That the Issue Raised is Within the Scope of This 
Proceeding 

 DOE has moved to withdraw its construction license application with prejudice, which if 

granted, would terminate this proceeding.  If DOE's motion is within the scope of this 

proceeding, then Petitioner’s opposition to DOE's motion is similarly within the scope of this 

proceeding. 

4. Demonstration That the Issue Raised is Material to the Findings 
The NRC Must Make to Support the Action That is Involved in 
the Proceeding 

 DOE's motion will require a ruling from this Board and the NRC.  Petitioner’s contention 

focuses directly on DOE's motion and opposes said motion. 
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5. Concise Statement of Supporting Facts, Expert Opinions, and 
References 

 The Petitioner asserts that the facts supporting this contention are contained in existing 

documents or as may be supplemented by affidavits, including the attached Affidavit of Ronald 

C. Callen. 

6. Information Showing That a Genuine Dispute Exists on a 
Material Issue of Law or Fact 

 The existence of a genuine dispute on a material issue of law or fact is evidenced by 

DOE's motion to withdraw its construction license application with prejudice, in contrast to the 

Petitioner’s assertion that said DOE decision and motion is unlawful, and also arbitrary and 

capricious, and violative of procedural requirements. 

V. PIIC-MISC-005 - The Board and NRC Should Reject DOE's 
Motion, and Place Conditions on any Future Consideration of 
DOE's Motion, to Ensure Compliance With Applicable Law. 

1. Statement of the Issue of Law or Fact To Be Raised or 
Controverted 

 The Petitioner asserts that the Board and NRC should reject DOE's motion, and attach 

conditions in its ruling to ensure DOE's compliance with the NWPA, the Standard Contract, 

NEPA, and the APA. 

2. Brief Explanation of the Basis of this Contention. 

 DOE's motion requests extraordinary and abusive relief, the sudden and complete 

termination of the license application process and of the entire decades-long Yucca Mountain 

project.  Yet DOE has provided no process to formulate any rationale for this decision, to 

provide a fair process to gather input nationally on the implications or impacts of its "secret" 
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decision, and has undertaken no environmental studies under NEPA on the impacts of this major 

decision. 

 DOE's Motion (p 1-2) refers to the establishment of the "Blue Ribbon Commission on 

America's Nuclear Future - which will conduct a comprehensive review and consider alternatives 

for such disposition" and that "Congress has already appropriated $5 million for the Blue Ribbon 

Commission to evaluate and recommend such 'alternatives'" citing Energy and Water 

Development' and Related Agencies Appropriation Act, 2010, Pub L. No. 111-85, 123 Stat. 

2845, 2864-65 (2009).  With exasperating simplicity, DOE's Motion suggests that the Blue 

Ribbon Commission, with $5 million dollars, will reach a miraculous and brilliant resolution to 

the indeterminable nuclear waste problem -- a problem that the nation has not resolved since the 

Manhattan project in World War II, the adoption of the NWPA in 1982, and to the present, after 

up to $10 billion in program expenditures, environmental studies and endless effort.  It is 

difficult to envision how the mere appointment of the Blue Ribbon Commission, with only a $5 

million appropriation, and 18-24 months, can provide a nuclear waste resolution when federal 

promises, nearly $10 billion of expenditures, and nearly 30 years of effort, has not yet done so.  

Contrary to DOE's motion, the mere appointment of a "Blue Ribbon Commission," with a $5 

million appropriation, simply does not justify DOE's decision "to discontinue the pending 

application" and "to withdraw that application with prejudice" . . . "and to avoid future 

expenditure of funds on a licensing proceeding for a project that is being terminated."  These 

statements in DOE's motion are illogical and counterintuitive.  First, the statements implying 

DOE's intent or interest "to avoid further expedition of funds on a licensing proceeding" is 

outright silly given the billion of dollars and efforts to get to the point of filing the license 

application, and the indeterminable billions more that federal taxpayers will likely have to pay 
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out in additional damages as a result of DOE's sudden "policy" reversal.  In contrast, the 

continuation of the license application to a decision on the merits would justify these past efforts 

and expenditures, particularly if the license application is granted (given that a repository is still 

needed, under any conceivable alternative that may be outlined by the Blue Ribbon 

Commission).   

 Second, DOE's motion confirms that a "secret decision" has been made that the "project .. 

is being terminated."  After 60 or more years of federal promises, and the plain language and 

intent of Congress in the NWPA and the Standard Contract (as clearly outlined in Indiana 

Michigan and Northern States Power), and the reliance thereon, how did we as a nation suddenly 

receive the unexplained edict that the repository "project is being terminated?"  Quite simply, 

how can the DOE revise the NWPA, the Court holdings in Indiana Michigan Power or Northern 

States Power, and the many U.S. Court of Claims decisions since, by simply announcing that the 

DOE has decided to now "terminate the project?" 

 DOE's Motion (p 2-3) also erroneously suggests that the NWPA somehow authorizes the 

withdrawal of the license application "on such terms as the Board may prescribe" or "on such 

terms as the presiding officer may prescribe."  The gist of this incredible argument is that the 

DOE can unilaterally and whimsically reverse its position, ignore its lawful duties, and file the 

subject Motion; and secondly, that the entire nation's lawmaking and judicial process and 

decisions (discussed supra) can be made subservient to only the presiding officer or Board in this 

singular agency, based simply upon an expedient and unexplainable motion of DOE's counsel. 

 DOE's motion (p 3) asserts that the board should "prescribe only one term of withdrawal 

-- that the pending application for a permanent geologic reporting at the Yucca Mountain site 

shall be dismissed with prejudice."  DOE's motion (p 3) then states:   
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"That action will provide finality in ending the Yucca Mountain project of a 
permanent geologic repository and will enable the Blue Ribbon Commission, as 
established by the Department and funded by Congress, to focus on alternative 
methods of meeting the federal government's obligation to take high-level waste 
and spent nuclear fuel." 

 

DOE's statements are illogical.  Quite simply, the mandated processing of the mandated license 

application does not and would not affect or complicate in any way the role or function of the 

new found "Blue Ribbon Commission."  In other words, the continued processing of the pending 

license application and the carrying out of the functions of the Blue Ribbon Commission are 

separate yet consistent functions.  The processing of the license application cannot conceivably 

disrupt, distract, or affect in any way the work of the Blue Ribbon Commission.  There exists no 

inconsistency whatsoever if the license process continues while the Blue Ribbon Commission 

undertakes its studies (as all sources indicate that a repository is needed under any known 

scenario -- see attached affidavit of Ronald C. Callen). 

 The Board and the NRC should reject DOE's motion outright.  At  minimum, the Board 

and NRC should hold the motion in abeyance and require DOE to first conduct the required 

NEPA studies, and to issue an Inquiry to initiate a process, with notice in the Federal Register 

and provision for comments and a more reasoned approach, to enable DOE to formulate a proper 

decision in compliance with the APA, NEPA and the NWPA (and Standard Contracts) and as a 

prerequisite to any consideration of its motion by this Board or the NRC. 

 DOE's motion (p 8-9) asserts that "no conditions are necessary as to the licensing support 

network."  DOE's motion on this point is revealing in what it does not say!  This statement is 

contradicted by reports of information being communicated to interested parties.  The DOE has 

already acted precipitously, contrary to its contractual and statutory authority, to unilaterally 

withdraw water and other permit applications necessary for a repository.  The Doe also has not 
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articulated a published policy to ensure the long-term preservation of all records, studies, 

samples, and support for a possible repository, all compiled at great public expense.   

 The NRC should issue an immediate order preserving all such studies, records and 

samples of any kind, and adopt mandates to make all DOE and NRC personnel responsible for 

ensuring the carrying out of this function.  Of course, this protective order would also be 

consistent with an NRC order denying DOE's motion to withdraw (or to withdraw with 

prejudice) its application for a license pending in this proceeding. 

3. Demonstration That the Issue Raised is Within the Scope of This 
Proceeding 

 DOE's motion requests approval of its carte blanche request, without any conditions.  

Petitioner focuses directly on this DOE request, and opposes DOE's request.  If this issue raised 

by DOE is within the scope of these proceedings, so to is Petitioner’s response thereto. 

4. Demonstration That the Issue Raised is Material to the Findings 
The NRC Must Make to Support the Action That is Involved in 
the Proceeding 

 DOE's motion requires a ruling from this Board and the NRC, which would include the 

adoption of appropriate conditions.  The Petitioner’s contention focuses directly on DOE's "no 

conditions" request, and opposes same, and suggests conditions, and is thus material to any 

ruling on the motion. 

5. Concise Statement of Supporting Facts, Expert Opinions, and 
References 

 The issue raised in this contention is primarily legal in nature, not factual.  The need for 

effective conditions is also based upon the pleadings and the existing record as supplemented by 

filed affidavits. 
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6. Information Showing That a Genuine Dispute Exists on a 
Material Issue of Law or Fact 

 A genuine dispute exists on this material issue of law or fact.  DOE's motion seeks the 

grant of its extraordinary motion without conditions.  In contrast, Petitioner asserts that DOE's 

motion should be denied in its entirety, and that DOE should be required to abide by effective 

conditions and procedural prerequisites before filing or re-filing such a motion. 

III.  CONSULTATION 

 Pursuant to 10 C.F.R. § 2.323(b), undersigned counsel have made a good faith effort to 

consult with counsel for the other parties prior to filing this petition.  On March 15, 2010 at about 

1:00 pm EST, counsel for Petitioner gave notice by e-mail of its intent to file this motion to all 

parties and persons on the most current service list for this proceeding.  As of this filing, the 

result of that consultation is as follows: 

 The following parties have consented to or indicated that they do not oppose the petition 

Nye County 

 The following parties are taking no position on the petition and are reserving their right to 

respond once the petition is filed:  the NRC Staff, State of California, the Nuclear Energy 

Institute. 

 The following parties oppose the petition:  No response at the time of filing. 

IV.  COMPLIANCE WITH 10 C.F.R. § 2.1012(b)(1) AND 10 C.F.R. § 2.1003 
 
 Pursuant to 10 C.F.R. § 2.1012(b)(1), a person seeking party status must demonstrate 

"substantial and timely compliance with the requirements of § 2.1003 at the time it requests 

participation in the HLW licensing proceeding under § 2.309."  10 C.F.R. § 2.1012(b)(1).  The 

undersigned counsel are making good faith efforts to achieve such substantial and timely 
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compliance.  Counsel for Petitioner attempted to contact LSN Administrator Daniel J. Graser on 

March 15, 2010, to discuss the technical requirements for complying with 10 C.F.R. § 2.1003, 

and left a message on his voice mail for further contact purposes.  Counsel for Petitioner will 

proceed to follow any applicable requirements and has every intention of complying with 10 

C.F.R. § 2.1003 as quickly as possible. 

V.  CONCLUSION 
 

 For the foregoing reasons, the Petitioner respectfully requests that its Petition to Intervene 

be granted. 

Dated this 15th day of March, 2010 

      PRAIRIE ISLAND INDIAN COMMUNITY 

 
      Philip R. Mahowald, General Counsel 

Prairie Island Indian Community Legal Department 
5636 Sturgeon Lake Road 
Welch, MN  55089 
Phone:  (651) 267-4006 

      Email: pmahowald@piic.org 
 
 
      Signed (electronically) by Don L. Keskey 

Don L. Keskey 
Public Law Resource Center PLLC 
505 N. Capitol Avenue 
Lansing, MI  48933 
Phone:  (517) 999-7572 
E-Mail:  donkeskey@publiclawresourcenter.com 






































































